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PRAISE FOR UNDEFEATED


“A haunting tale of an island transformed from tropical paradise into the Alamo of the Pacific, and a fitting tribute to the heroes who fought, suffered, and died there.”


—JONATHAN W. JORDAN,
bestselling author of Brothers, Rivals, Victors


“Bill Sloan has brought this story to life like never before. To say that Undefeated is compelling would be an understatement. It is an emotional journey into the experiences of men and women whose ordeal should never be forgotten.”


    —JOHN C. MCMANUS,
 author of Alamo in the Ardennes, Grunts, and September Hope: The American Side of a Bridge Too Far


“Sloan expertly illuminates the dark, early days of World War II in the Philippines, as well as the savage aftermath, in staggering detail. Undefeated cements Sloan’s reputation as one of the war’s eminent historians and storytellers.”


—JOHN D. LUKACS,
author of Escape From Davao


“This is a gripping story of one of the most incredibly heroic military stands in all of history, an American epic of courage and stubborn tenacity.”


—DONALD L. MILLER,
author of D-Days in the Pacific


“From the killing grounds of Bataan and Corregidor, to the ghastly POW camps, to the horrors of the hell ships—Sloan has delivered a gripping story full of brutality and pathos.”


    —JAMES CAMPBELL,
 author of The Color of War, The Ghost Mountain Boys, and The Final Frontiersman









Based on exclusive interviews with more than thirty survivors, Undefeated tells the courageous story of the outnumbered American soldiers and airmen who stood against invading Japanese forces in the Philippines at the beginning of World War II, and continued to resist through three harrowing years as POWs.


Bill Sloan, “a master of the combat narrative” (Dallas Morning News), captures the valor, fortitude, and agony of the American defenders of the Philippines. Abandoned by their government, the men and women of the U.S. garrison battled hopeless military odds, rampant disease, and slow starvation to delay the inevitable surrender of the largest American military force ever. For four months they fought toe to toe against overwhelming enemy numbers—and forced the Japanese to pay a heavy cost in blood for every inch of ground they gained on the Bataan peninsula. After the surrender came the infamous Bataan Death March, where up to eighteen thousand American and Filipino prisoners died or were murdered as they marched sixty-five miles under the most hellish conditions imaginable.


Rather than picturing these defenders as little more than helpless victims of a powerful and sadistic enemy—as have most previous books about the Philippine campaign—Undefeated tells the full story of the remarkable courage and indomitable will that cost the Japanese invaders thousands of casualties on Bataan and Corregidor. Interwoven throughout this gripping narrative are the harrowing personal experiences of dozens of American soldiers, airmen, and Marines. Sloan also provides vivid portraits of the officers who led the American forces, such as General Douglas MacArthur, who escaped to Australia as the situation on Bataan worsened, and General Jonathan Wainwright, who succeeded him as top U.S. commander in the Philippines and himself became a prisoner of the Japanese.


Undefeated chronicles one of the great sagas of World War II—and celebrates a resounding triumph of the human spirit.
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“Vivid… Every American interested in military history should read Sloan’s account of the heroic defenders of Bataan.”


—BILL YENNE, author of
Aces High: The Heroic Saga of the
Two Top-Scoring American Aces of World War II
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A $36-a-Month Paradise


As the 1930s faded into the 1940s, the growing aggregation of United States military bases clustered around the Philippine capital city of Manila ranked near the top of the list of most coveted overseas duty stations for officers and enlisted men of America’s armed forces—and for lots of good reasons.


A young first lieutenant’s salary of $143 per month supported a lifestyle in Manila that only the ultrawealthy could afford back in the States, where the Great Depression still held sway. Among the usual perks were a fashionable apartment, a full staff of servants, access to exclusive golf, tennis, polo, and drinking clubs—and plenty of leisure time to enjoy all this. General Douglas MacArthur, supreme commander of United States Army Forces, Far East (USAFFE), set the tone for his junior officers from the lavish penthouse atop the Manila Hotel, where he lived with his second wife and three-year-old son.


One junior officer who did his best to live up to his commander-in-chief’s example was twenty-eight-year-old First Lieutenant Ralph E. Hibbs of the U.S. Army Medical Corps, who arrived in Manila aboard the liner-turned-troopship President Coolidge on June 20, 1941.


Assigned as a brand-new battalion surgeon in the 31st Infantry Regiment, Hibbs had suffered a double disappointment when he went to the dock at Fort Mason in San Francisco to board his ship. First, he was refused permission to bring his spiffy, fire-chief-red Ford convertible aboard the Coolidge and forced to sell it at a considerable loss to a waiting used car dealer.


“The second incident,” he recalled decades later, “was the loss of six bottles of Old Grandad whiskey. Rumor had it that no liquor would be allowed on the ship, so I secreted a cache in my golf bag. Unfortunately, it was dropped during loading, and all six bottles were broken. The baggage sergeant was in a tizzy trying to find the source of the aroma until I pointed to my own bag.”


Replacing the car in Manila was impossible, and Hibbs had to settle for a rather drab Chevrolet sedan, but he had no reason to cry over spilled whiskey, as it turned out. Drinks at the Baroque Bar in the Army Navy Club cost 15 or 20 cents apiece, he soon discovered, “and the bartender kept pouring from the bottle until you signaled him to stop.”


Hibbs’s job involved the health of roughly 700 soldiers and meant that he would be on the front lines with them if war broke out. But as long as peacetime prevailed, his routine duties in the clinic at old Fort Santiago, built by the Spanish in 1565, took only about four hours a day.


“I was free by 11 o’clock for golf at Fort McKinley or Manila’s lovely Wack-Wack course,” he recalled. “Lunch might be at the Polo Club, which included Manila’s social elite… and a chance for young American officers to meet gorgeous and eager señoritas.”


By late afternoon, Hibbs and a small group of friends who called themselves the “Whiffenpoof Boys” were often found rolling dice for drinks at the Army Navy Club. Later in the evening, they might visit the Jai Lai Club for gambling and dinner, or they might return to the Army Navy Club for the free fifty-foot-long buffet.


Before the end of that summer, Hibbs had established a more or less steady romantic relationship with a beautiful, U.S.-educated woman named Pilar Campos, daughter of a prominent Manila family, who spoke five languages and held the position of society editor for the Manila Herald. They golfed together and spent their evenings drinking, dining, and dancing just as “Stateside Americans would.”


In late November 1941, Hibbs took a moment out of his crowded social schedule to write a letter to his parents back in Iowa. “Things are peaceful here,” he said. “Life in the Orient is easygoing with emphasis on the mañana and siesta ethic.… A Jap attack seems unlikely.”


About ten days later, on December 5, Hibbs’s regiment was placed on “red alert,” and newspapers reported “enemy airplanes over Luzon for the second time this week.” But Hibbs had assured his parents that “Nothing’s going to happen here,” and he still believed it.


With an exchange rate of two Filipino pesos to one Yankee dollar, even a lowly Army private could claim a share of the good life on his $21-a-month salary. A half-liter peck of gin cost about 15 cents, and a houseboy could be hired to keep the private’s boots polished, his uniform pressed, and his bunk made for the equivalent of $1.50 per month.


Manila was known as “the Pearl of the Orient,” and so coveted was a two-year tour there that most aspirants had to start at the bottom of a lengthy waiting list. More than a few—including Texas-born Corporal Louis Read, who had enlisted in June 1939 a couple of weeks after his high school graduation, even accepted a temporary reduction in rank to nail down such a plum assignment.


“Peacetime duty in the Philippines was great,” Read recalled some seven decades later. “We worked in the mornings, napped during the heat of the afternoon, then took a cab ride for 7 centavos (about three and a half cents American) and went out on the town in the evening. I got to know the bars and nightclubs along main drags like Dewey Boulevard and Rizal Avenue very well.”


PFC Walter Bell, a self-described “old native tarheel” from Sparta, North Carolina, had joined the Army at age nineteen on August 1, 1939. After an abbreviated thirty-day boot camp at Fort Slocum, New York, he sailed for Manila aboard the transport President Grant with forty other members of the Fourth Chemical Company. He was favorably impressed with the surroundings the moment he stepped ashore.


“It was an incredibly beautiful country,” remembered Bell, who was originally stationed at Fort McKinley, about twenty miles from downtown Manila. “There were beautiful girls everywhere you looked and beer joints on every corner. We’d drill until noon, then have the whole afternoon off to drink beer and chase girls.”


Complementing the relaxed pace and light duties were ample entertainment possibilities to fill the spare time of the rank and file. On the half-dozen major military bases in southern Luzon, air-conditioned theaters provided free first-run movies. Bowling alleys, sports fields, swimming pools, and tennis courts were also readily available. NCO clubs and an endless assortment of bars and dance halls in Manila proper served ice-cold beer for a nickel a bottle. Pristine beaches stretched as far as the eye could see, and the fragrance of bougainvillea, gardenias, and orchids filled the air. Local radio stations played the latest big-band tunes, and English-language newspapers and 5-cent orchid corsages were hawked on many major street corners. Beautiful women were everywhere, and on neon-lit side streets attractive prostitutes offered their services for as little as 50 cents.


“It was the closest thing to paradise any of us had ever seen,” said Tech Sergeant Smith L. Green, who arrived in October 1939, well before serious war clouds began to gather over the islands. Green, who had joined the Army in 1935 to escape the throes of the Great Depression, was assigned to a communications unit in the 31st Infantry, the only all-American regiment in the Philippines, which operated a richly appointed NCO club on Dewey Boulevard overlooking Manila Bay. “I was single, I had $36 a month to spend, and I was happy as a lark,” he recalled.


Even at Clark Field, some sixty miles north of Manila, the living was easy for members of the 19th Bomb Group’s Seventh Materiel Squadron, who arrived there in October 1941 to perform routine maintenance on the field’s growing flock of B-17 heavy bombers.


“Our work wasn’t all that hard,” recalled PFC Russell Gill, a native Oklahoman assigned to such jobs as emptying fifty-five-gallon drums of gasoline into the field’s 4,000-gallon storage tanks and making sure that the big planes had plenty of oil for their 200-gallon crankcases.


“We got to go into Manila fairly often for supplies, and we had real nice quarters at Clark,” Gill said. “The barracks were made out of mahogany and nipa, and each one was set up to house five guys. We had houseboys as servants to do our laundry and make our beds, and our meals were served on fine china. I’d have stayed there forever if not for the war.”


By the spring of 1941, the Americanization of Manila’s downtown area was virtually complete. Those who ventured far enough from the glitzy areas of the city could find plenty of squalor and slum shacks constructed of nipa leaves and bamboo. But it was possible to spend months in the city and never see those things if you didn’t want to.


“Manila was different from anything I’d imagined,” said Corporal Clemens Kathman, who landed there in September 1941 as a new member of the 200th Coastal Artillery Regiment. “The seafront was adorned with beautiful buildings, homes, and hotels surrounded by lush green lawns and palm trees. Wide paved streets that cut their way through the business district resembled any American city. It looked more like Southern California than the Far East.”


By this time, however, rapid changes were taking place—all of them of an ominous nature. The last dependents of American military personnel and, in fact, the vast majority of all American civilians in the islands were scurrying to get out. Talk in the bars, clubs, and restaurants inevitably turned to the growing probability of a war with Japan, but most U.S. servicemen in the Philippines gave little credence to the talk, and many scoffed openly at the idea of the Japanese picking a fight with the United States.


Their typical response to such suggestions was laced with arrogance, bravado, and denial. “The Japs don’t have the balls to attack us,” they said, in essence, “and if they ever try it, it’ll be the shortest war in history. We’ll kick their asses and send ’em home in boxes in two or three weeks.”


Unfortunately, the scoffers didn’t understand how drastically Japanese-U.S. relations had soured over the preceding forty years. They failed to grasp the depth of Japanese anger toward the arrogant white intruders into Nippon’s East Asia domain or to realize how much military muscle and advanced weaponry Japan had amassed since the early 1900s. If they had, the naysayers would have kept their mouths shut and started digging.


Compared to the massive conflicts that would convulse the world during the following century, the Spanish-American War of 1898 didn’t amount to much—not on the surface, at any rate. It lasted barely four months, cost a mere handful of American casualties, and ended when Commodore George Dewey’s U.S. Asiatic Squadron quickly destroyed the Spanish fleet in Manila Bay, suffering only nine wounded sailors in the process.


But from a broader perspective, this “splendid little war,” as U.S. ambassador to Britain John Hay described it at the time, set the stage for the most horrendous cataclysm in human history slightly more than four decades later.


The easy victory over Spain established the United States as a genuine world power and gave it a chain of newly acquired possessions stretching from Cuba to Hawaii to the Philippines. Our inwardly focused, predominantly rural, and still young nation, where most citizens had never ventured more than a hundred or so miles from home—suddenly found itself with a vast Pacific domain half a world away from its major population centers. As the twentieth century dawned, the general public wanted little to do with anything that far away, and few American political leaders were eager to spend the hefty sums of money required to support these far-flung new interests, particularly those in the Far East.


One who was willing—even eager—was Spanish War hero Teddy Roosevelt. When he ascended to the White House in 1901, following the assassination of President William McKinley, one of Roosevelt’s first priorities was to develop a “big stick” Navy that could hold its own in waters far from home. In late 1907, Roosevelt sent the sixteen new battleships of America’s “Great White Fleet,” with 14,000 sailors aboard, on a triumphal 43,000-mile, fifteen-month, around-the-world cruise to show off U.S. sea power.


Meanwhile, the Japanese navy—fresh from its resounding defeat of Czar Nicholas’s fleet in the Russo-Japanese War of 1905—was flexing its own muscles in the Pacific. Although Japanese officials and citizens gave the American dreadnoughts an outwardly cordial welcome on their arrival in Tokyo Bay in October 1908, the country’s militants resented the “provocative” presence of so many U.S. warships in Japan’s own backyard.


Japan and the United States were nominal allies against Germany in World War I, but there was minimal cooperation between the two nations, and their goals were as different as night and day. While more than a million American doughboys were being sent to France to “make the world safe for democracy,” Japan’s chief concern was laying claim to certain German holdings in the Pacific following the kaiser’s defeat. As early as 1920, U.S. military strategists identified Japan, now boasting the world’s third largest navy and controlling a string of former German colonial possessions, as the likeliest potential adversary of the United States in a future Pacific conflict.


To counter the perceived threat from Tokyo, the United States and Britain tried using strong-arm diplomacy at the Washington Naval Conference of 1922 to limit the size and number of new Japanese warships, but Japan found its own clandestine ways to circumvent these attempts. Meanwhile, American military leaders formulated a top secret anti-Japanese strategy designated as War Plan Orange. With a few revisions, the same basic strategy was still favored by many U.S. military leaders, under the name WPO-3, when hostilities broke out in late 1941.


One of the two principal cornerstones of each version of Plan Orange would be the construction of massive U.S. fortifications in the Philippine Islands, particularly around Manila Bay and on southern Luzon. The other was the transfer of the U.S. Pacific Fleet and its formidable firepower from its traditional home port of San Diego 2,000 miles west to Hawaii. This, in theory, placed the fleet close enough to the Philippines to come to the rescue if besieged U.S. defenders could execute an orderly retreat into the Bataan Peninsula and hold out there for up to six months. Other remote fortified points of land scattered over the far western Pacific, including Wake Island, Midway, and Guam, were intended to add teeth to the plan.


Meanwhile, throughout the 1920s, seeds of mutual animosity and distrust were sown continuously between the United States and an increasingly bellicose empire of Japan. The seeds would flower into flaming disaster at Pearl Harbor on the balmy morning of December 7, 1941.


The first major attacks on American bases in the Philippines (on the other side of the International Date Line, where it was December 8) would follow about ten hours later. When they came, no American in the islands—from General MacArthur in his posh penthouse down to the lowliest private sleeping off a weekend drunk in his barracks—would be ready to respond.


Over the seven decades since, historians and students of military strategy have continued to wonder why.


During the period between the skirmish with Spain and World War II, most top-level diplomats and national political leaders studiously avoided such terms as “colonial empire” to describe America’s far-flung Pacific holdings. They much preferred such designations as “territories” and “protectorates”—or in the case of the Philippines, a “commonwealth.” And beginning in 1936, to the credit of the United States, the Philippine archipelago was set on a ten-year path toward full independence. Nevertheless, in the words of historian Duane Schultz, “These were truly the days of empire. These were lazy, luxurious, pampered days, and the white man lived like royalty, served well by his native subjects.”


It seems likely that no white man on earth had more opportunities during this period to embrace the languorous aura of the Philippines—or to enjoy a more regal and pampered existence there—than General Douglas MacArthur.


After graduating at the top of his West Point class of 1903, MacArthur had proceeded directly to the Philippines, where his father, General Arthur MacArthur, a Civil War Medal of Honor winner, was serving a lengthy tenure as military governor. After the elder MacArthur’s death there in 1912 from a tropical disease, young Douglas returned to the States in time to distinguish himself with the American Expeditionary Forces during World War I. As a field officer during the fierce trench warfare in France, he gained a reputation for battlefield courage and inspired leadership that earned him a Distinguished Service Cross and placed him among the nation’s most revered heroes of “the war to end war.”


By 1935, however, MacArthur had spent seventeen years further distinguishing himself as the Army’s youngest general, youngest division commander, first-ever press officer, youngest superintendent of West Point, and youngest chief of staff. Now he was fifty-six years old and too far along in age to be the “youngest” at much of anything anymore. It was also a dismal time for the nation’s military with tightfisted isolationists controlling Congress and the Army seemingly withering on the vine.


In the meantime, MacArthur’s personal life had also fallen into the doldrums. In 1929, his ill-advised marriage to wealthy socialite Louise Cromwell Brooks had ended in a nasty, much publicized divorce. Then, in 1932, his harsh treatment of destitute World War I veterans in breaking up their “Bonus March” on Washington had left a bad taste in the mouths of millions of Americans. Clearly, a change was in order for the nation’s most colorful general, and his best opportunity to achieve it seemed to lie in the Philippines, where he was again spending considerable off-duty time.


In 1935, after five years as chief of staff, MacArthur was already flirting with the idea of retirement when he received an incredibly appealing proposition from Philippines president Manuel Quezon, whom the general had known since 1903. Quezon wanted to hire a world-recognized military leader to serve as commander-in-chief of the commonwealth’s fledgling armed forces, and his old friend MacArthur was his first choice. In quickly accepting Quezon’s offer, MacArthur not only became the only American general ever to hold the exalted rank of field marshal but also received a larger salary than Quezon himself. In return, MacArthur would be charged with building a Philippine Army capable of defending the archipelago from any external threat.


From all indications, this decision led to one of the most satisfying interludes of MacArthur’s life. In 1937, he officially resigned from the U.S. Army, adding to the remoteness of his situation while emphasizing his displeasure with the state of America’s military. That same year, he married Jean Marie Faircloth, a thirty-seven-year-old from Murfreesboro, Tennessee, whom he’d met in the Philippines several years earlier. In 1938, the new Mrs. MacArthur gave birth to a son, Arthur, and the general, now fifty-eight, enthusiastically embraced a new role as a doting first-time father.


Yet from a military standpoint, the arrangement with Quezon turned out to be studded with rare peculiarities as the 1930s wound down. Although Field Marshal MacArthur no longer had any official status with the U.S. Army, his views and recommendations on Philippine defense continued to weigh heavily with the U.S. War Department, the Army’s new chief of staff, General George C. Marshall, and President Franklin Roosevelt. At the same time, however, considerable friction flared between Manila and Washington.


MacArthur was clearly nettled by what he considered his mother country’s lack of financial commitment to build up the Philippines’ military—so much so that, in 1939, he peevishly dismissed his trusted longtime aide, U.S. Army Major Dwight D. Eisenhower, and sent him back to the States. When asked what had caused the rift between himself and MacArthur, Eisenhower replied, “He thought I was stealing his publicity.”


This breakup triggered lingering ill feelings between the two men destined to become the Army’s two most powerful commanders during World War II. Where the prewar Philippines were concerned, it also deepened MacArthur’s isolation from Washington’s top military leadership as the conflict approached.


Nevertheless, growing concern about a war with Japan would bring an ever-widening stream of U.S. troops and armaments to the islands during 1940 and 1941. The all-American 31st Infantry Regiment had been permanently based in the Philippines since its inception two decades earlier, and it would remain as a mainstay of Philippine defense. The Philippine Scouts, made up of Filipino soldiers led by U.S. Army officers and established during an insurrection following the war with Spain, had long ago proved itself as another top-notch fighting organization. These two well-trained, well-equipped entities formed the nucleus of a defensive force still under the auspices of the U.S. Army but also within the full, on-the-scene jurisdiction of Field Marshal MacArthur, an employee of the Philippine government. The result was an unwieldy, if not paradoxical, situation.


Ironically, despite his urgings for more and faster assistance from Washington, MacArthur chose to follow an amazingly relaxed pace in preparing his new Philippine Army for combat. On one hand, he talked of defending “every inch of shoreline” in the Philippines against attack by outside forces. (The 7,100-plus islands in the archipelago have more total shoreline than the United States.) On the other hand, he repeatedly discounted the threat of Japanese aggression against the Philippines.


“It has been assumed, in my opinion erroneously, that Japan covets these islands,” he said in 1939 in his usual verbose style. “Just why has never been satisfactorily explained. Proponents of such a theory fail fully to credit the logic of the Japanese mind. Economically, Japan would gain nothing by conquest [of the Philippines]. If committed to such an attack, the Japanese position would become desperate if… intervention should materialize on the part of a nation equipped with a powerful fleet.”


In other words, MacArthur was insisting, Japan would be courting suicide if its aggression provoked the United States, and this argument, when repeated a sufficient number of times, had a distinct trickle-down effect on American servicemen in the Philippines. By late 1941, the opinions of most American officers and enlisted men serving under MacArthur would reflect these same cocksure misconceptions.


On paper during those final weeks of peace in the Pacific, the Philippine Army encompassed more than 80,000 troops, neatly formed into divisions and regiments. But—virtually to a man—it was made up of young, untrained draftees without a single minute of combat experience, the vast majority of whom had drilled only with wooden dummy rifles and never held an actual weapon in their hands, much less fired one. Most could neither speak nor understand the language spoken by their officers and noncommissioned officers.


“They were brave young men who sincerely wanted to defend their country,” said Colonel John Olson, a West Pointer who had helped mold the Philippine Scouts into a superb fighting machine, “but they didn’t know the first damn thing about being soldiers, and they were destined to die like flies for that reason.”


It was much the same story with the Philippine Air Force. It boasted sixty planes, which sounded good on paper. But closer examination revealed that forty-two of these were ancient, unarmed P-13 primary trainers. Its “combat aircraft” consisted of twelve long obsolete P-26 pursuit planes and three lumbering B-10 bombers dating from the early 1930s.


In his communications with Washington, however, MacArthur continued to exude his special breed of impervious self-confidence. Even after President Roosevelt sought to drive home the urgency felt by the rest of America’s military establishment by ordering MacArthur back to active duty in July 1941 as commander of U.S. Army Forces in the Far East, the general remained unflappable and unperturbed.


While he was now willing to admit that war with Japan could happen—an eventuality he’d denied for a long time—MacArthur blithely assured the powers in Washington that there was “no reason to fear” any attack by the Japanese before April 1942 at the earliest. “And by then,” he promised, “we will be fully prepared to meet whatever comes.”


By then, Japan’s domination of the Philippines would be virtually complete, and MacArthur’s 80,000-man Philippine Army would no longer exist.


When war erupted in the Philippines on December 8, 1941, it would find 1,000 members of the Fourth Marine Regiment newly arrived from fourteen years of duty in Shanghai and billeted on Bataan to guard U.S. Navy facilities there. The “China Marines,” as they were known, had been in the Philippines for only a week when the first Japanese attacks came.


As part of a small contingent of Marines stationed at the big Cavite Navy Yard on Manila Bay, however, PFC Otis H. King and his fellow Texan and best buddy, Private Ike Williams, had been stationed in the Philippines since the summer of 1940. At a strapping six-foot-one and 200 pounds, King looked about the same age as his nineteen-year-old friend, but he was, in fact, less than six months past his fifteenth birthday.


Earlier that same year, after fibbing his way into the Corps, King had been mistakenly shipped to Shanghai because of a glitch in his orders, but after he’d spent only a couple of weeks with the China Marines, the error had been discovered, and he’d been sent back to Manila. As fate would have it, Williams, with whom the underage King had struck up a rowdy friendship that landed both in the brig, was also transferred out of China as retribution by his angry commanding officer.


“The chemistry between us was what buddies are made of,” King would recall decades later in explaining how the two Marines became an inseparable team. “We each seemed to know what the other was thinking and knew what to do in any given situation without verbal communication.”


Although Cavite wasn’t considered quite as choice a duty station as Shanghai, the “Gold Dust Twins,” as their fellow Marines took to calling them, had ample opportunity to pull liberties together in Manila and gain a deserved reputation for drinking and carousing. Their only extended absence from the city’s nightlife came during a few weeks of shared sentry duty on Corregidor, guarding the entrance to a top secret communications facility known as the Navy Radio Tunnel.


The sixteenth anniversary of King’s birth found him in a Navy hospital recovering from an emergency appendectomy. On the evening of December 5, 1940, Ike Williams and some other buddies decided that King was sufficiently recovered to go out and celebrate what they thought was his twentieth birthday. He didn’t argue or bother to correct them, and he had no problem matching them drink for drink as they made the rounds of half a dozen bars.


Later, feeling a slight twinge of guilt for withholding the truth from his best friend, King finally confessed his secret to Williams, but the latter’s reaction was hardly more than a shrug. All he said was, “So what’s that got to do with the price of cotton in China?”


For much of the following year, King and Williams were out on the town almost every night. Near the end of 1940, their easygoing lifestyle became even more so when they were assigned to “detached duty” doing what King termed “low-level counterintelligence work,” in addition to their duties as guards and runners. They moved off base into a nicely furnished apartment, paid for by the office of Admiral Thomas Hart, commander of the Cavite-based Asiatic Fleet, and were handed the enviable assignment of prowling such popular spots as the Poodle Dog Bar & Grill, Scottie’s Bar, and the Silver Dollar Saloon.


“Just keep your eyes peeled and your ears open for suspicious activity,” said their CO, Lieutenant Colonel William Clement. “If you hear any of those Jap cocktail waitresses pumping drunk sailors about where their ships are headed, let me know.”


Then, late in the summer of 1941, somber changes gradually started dampening the party atmosphere in Manila. Dependents of men serving in Admiral Hart’s small, mostly obsolete Asiatic Fleet were suddenly ordered stateside. Machine and ordnance shops at the Cavite Navy Yard began working overtime, and the base’s antiaircraft batteries were dispersed to safer, camouflaged locations. The Cavite Marines’ supplies of fuel and ammunition were moved to secluded dumps away from the navy yard to protect them from enemy air raids. Admiral Hart moved his staff from his flagship, the heavy cruiser Houston, to a nondescript building on Manila’s waterfront.


For Williams and King, the strongest indication of how serious matters were getting came when they were called in by Colonel Clement and handed a new, more stringent set of instructions: From now on, even off duty, they were ordered to stay sober, report any suspicious activity immediately, and be especially alert to anything said in the bars by military personnel about fleet or troop movements.


Clement’s concern was that many bars in Manila were owned by Japanese nationals who could be feeding critical information back to Tokyo. “For reasons of his own,” King said, “the skipper would tell us which bars or night clubs we should visit with particular attention to Japanese bar maids in those establishments.”


Suddenly, barhopping wasn’t quite as much fun anymore.


On the night of October 16, 1941, Lieutenant Edgar Whitcomb’s stomach was filled with butterflies as he looked down through the plastic nose of his B-17 and watched the Golden Gate Bridge disappear beneath him. Ahead lay only the yawning, unbroken blackness of the Pacific Ocean, and Whitcomb felt slightly weak in the knees at the awesome responsibility now facing him. As the plane’s navigator, it was his job to guide it through that infinite black wall on the first leg of its 7,000-mile journey from San Francisco to Clark Field in the Philippine Islands.


Whitcomb knew that he and his plane—along with the other twenty-five Flying Fortresses of the 19th Bomb Group, commanded by Colonel Eugene Eubank—were taking part in a truly historic occasion on this night. Theirs was the first mass-formation flight in aviation history to attempt such a long, grueling trip. Their route would take them to Hawaii, Midway Island, Wake Island, New Guinea, Port Darwin in Australia, and finally to the plains of southern Luzon.


In years to come, Whitcomb would think back hundreds of times to his first sight of Clark Field and the lush, green countryside surrounding it. “From the nose of the plane I looked with eager eyes at the scenery below as it flashed past,” he recalled. “Directly to the east of the field, a volcano-shaped mountain rose abruptly out of the flat country around it. As we circled for a landing, we could see the golf course spread out west of the field, a swimming pool, and a number of large frame houses. From the air, everything looked clean and fresh, and we were certain that this would be a wonderful place to spend the next few months.”


Like most new arrivals to the Philippines, Whitcomb and his buddies were amazed at the luxuries available to them after they settled into spacious, well-appointed houses near the airfield. “It took us no time at all to find that life was impossible without a battery of servants to wash our clothes, keep our shoes polished, and fetch tall drinks at our beck and call—and all for a few cents a day,” the young officer from Indiana marveled. “We could swim, play golf, or hike to the various villages near the field. On these walks, we saw beautiful groups of multicolored birds—parakeets, canaries, and parrots, all very much at home in the tropical vegetation of palms and banana trees.”


The situation only seemed to get better when, in early November, the bomber crews were granted a lengthy leave in Manila, where Whitcomb and a close friend, Lieutenant Warner Croxton, bunked at the magnificent Manila Hotel and got their first close-up look at the city.


“Manila was a great and wonderful place,” said Whitcomb. “There were modern theaters, hotels, and nightclubs, and I found one fine spot for a party—a club with good food and a good orchestra on top of the Avenue Hotel, six or seven stories above the heart of Manila.”


Later Whitcomb and Croxton strolled through the hundreds of small shops in Manila’s old Walled City. In the wee hours of the morning, they watched drunken American sailors racing down Dewey Boulevard in commandeered taxis with their Filipino drivers hanging on for dear life in the passenger seats. Then, finally, they returned to bask in the unexcelled luxury of the Manila Hotel.


“Too soon, it was time for us the board the train and head back to Clark Field,” said Whitcomb, “but we knew now why they called Manila ‘the Pearl of the Orient,’ and we knew we’d have great times there once we were settled and better acquainted.”


On their first day back at Clark, Whitcomb and Croxton were ordered to wear their .45 automatics and World War I–style steel helmets constantly while on duty and to keep their gas masks with them at all times.


They didn’t know it at the time, but their Manila party plans were about to go on permanent hold. They’d made their last lighthearted foray through the “Pearl.”


Sergeant Cletis Overton’s arrival in Manila on November 20, 1941, bore scant resemblance to that of Ed Whitcomb and his fellow fliers. For Overton and other ground crewmembers of the 16th Squadron of the 27th Bomb Group, there was little fanfare or historical significance to the occasion.


Overton’s three-week voyage from San Francisco had gotten off to a rocky start when the affable twenty-year-old from Malvern, Arkansas, came down with an acute case of seasickness. In a day or two, the queasy dizziness subsided, however, and he had an opportunity to enjoy a brief taste of luxury aboard his ship, the converted cruise liner President Coolidge.


“There was a live orchestra in the dining room,” Overton recalled, “and we were served sit-down meals at fancy tables. We got to splash around in the swimming pools, and games of poker, blackjack, and shuffleboard sprang up all over the ship.”


For the most part, though, Overton spent his time up on the top deck, watching schools of flying fish and thinking about Maxine Cox, a girl he’d been smitten with since the fifth grade. When they were both about thirteen, he’d started walking Maxine home from church, and they’d continued to date steadily all the way through high school.


After joining the Army Air Corps in August 1940, he’d written her regularly, and while he was stationed fairly close to home in Georgia and Louisiana, he’d visited her in Hot Springs, where she was attending nursing school. When his overseas assignment came through in the fall of ’41, he’d written her a goodbye letter, telling her that he might never come back to Malvern and that she should forget about him and find somebody else.


“I knew at the time I didn’t really mean it,” he later admitted. “I guess I was just trying to play on her heartstrings.”


As the President Coolidge carried him farther and farther away from her, he could only hope that Maxine hadn’t believed him.


After docking in Manila, Overton’s outfit was issued steel helmets, gas masks, and 1903 Springfield rifles still packed in Cosmoline. Then the men were bivouacked in six-man tents on the parade ground at Fort William McKinley, just outside the city, to await the anticipated arrival of their planes and equipment and pending the completion of their permanent base at the new Del Carmen Field.


In the interim, they had little to do while on duty other than performing routine camp chores and trying to avoid the afternoon heat, which was still fierce in late November, even for a young man accustomed to Arkansas summers. But in the evenings Overton and one of his tent mates, Charles Watson, often ventured into Manila to check out the nightclubs, watch the natives play a handball-style game called jai alai, and shop for such goods as 35-cent trousers and $1.50-a-pair dress shoes.


Overton also shot numerous photos of his fascinating new surroundings with a 35-millimeter camera that he’d bought during a one-night stopover in Honolulu. He even got Watson to take some shots of him while they were touring the hot spots in Manila—just to impress Maxine.


Unfortunately, though, not a single one of Overton’s pictures ever made it back to Arkansas. Mail service from the Philippines was about to be suspended indefinitely.


At about the same time that Cletis Overton’s ship sailed into Manila Bay, news came that the China Marines were evacuating Shanghai and being transferred to the Philippines aboard another converted luxury liner, the President Harrison. Escorted by a pair of U.S. submarines and two old Yangtze River gunboats, the Harrison arrived in the islands without serious incident on December 1.


Two days later, Otis King and Ike Williams happened to be in the flag offices of the Asiatic Fleet during a tense conversation among Admiral Hart, Colonel Sam Howard, commander of the Fourth Marines, and Admiral Francis W. Rockwell, commander of the 16th Naval District.


At this meeting, Colonel Howard’s regiment was placed under Admiral Rockwell’s command and ordered to protect naval installations on Luzon, principally at the small port of Mariveles at the extreme southern tip of Bataan and the Olongapo Naval Station. The Cavite Marines, of which King and Williams were part, would continue to guard the Cavite Navy Yard.


“Gentlemen,” the two young Marines overheard Hart tell the others grimly as the meeting broke up, “I expect a war with Japan within a week, maybe sooner.”


On December 5, King observed his seventeenth birthday in an atmosphere far more somber than the one he’d enjoyed a year earlier. Colonel Clement, apparently impressed with the job King and Williams had done collecting information in the bars, presented the pair with an unexpected “birthday present”—consisting of orders for them to return to the States for intelligence training. They were given five days to gather their gear and board the troopship Chaumont for the long trip home.


“You’ll be sailing on December 10,” Clement told them. “Bon voyage.”


PFC Otis King—who preferred to be known as “Karl” rather than by the name he’d been given at birth—wasn’t the only underage American enlisted man in the Philippines that fateful autumn. He also wasn’t the only one about to be ordered stateside as war closed in on the island paradise—or who disliked the name he’d been born with.


Joseph Trejo, a Latino kid with a background as a brawler and troublemaker, would later have his name legally changed to Joseph Alexander and eventually be certified as the youngest individual ever to serve in the U.S. Army Air Corps. He’d been only fourteen years old when his grandmother had signed his enlistment papers on July 7, 1941, at Fort Sam Houston in San Antonio, Texas.


“They didn’t ask for a birth certificate or any kind of personal records,” he recalled. “All they did was ask if I wanted to join up. I said yes, and that was it.”


After boot camp and six weeks of training as a maintenance ordnance technician, Trejo/Alexander became a member of the 440 Aviation Ordnance Squadron and was sent halfway around the world to Clark Field in the Philippines. His job was supposed to be loading 500-pound bombs into the bellies of new B-17s, the world’s most formidable combat aircraft.


Joe was somewhat relieved when he learned he’d be stationed at Clark, which was separated from the fleshpots of Manila by sixty miles of mountains and jungles. If Manila was anything like San Antonio, he’d get into trouble there for sure, he thought. He’d always been in trouble in San Antonio.


“I was a mean kid, always in fights, always in trouble in school and everywhere else,” he said. “I don’t know where my mean streak came from or who I was mad at, but I always had a chip on my shoulder.”


Some of his anger may have stemmed from the fact that he’d never known his father or his mother. His grandmother told him only that his mother was dead and that nobody knew—or cared—where his father was. And when Joe was at home, he could feel the hate that radiated from the only other person in his household, a woman who claimed to be his aunt.


“I was a mess,” he recalled. “I’d probably have wound up dead if it hadn’t been for Mr. Ramsey, one of my teachers in junior high. He kind of took me under his wing and helped me make better grades. I think it was him who gave me the idea of joining the service. I’m sure he didn’t intend for me to do it until I was older, but I didn’t feel like I could wait. If I stayed in San Antonio, I figured I was bound to kill somebody sooner or later—or get killed myself.”


At the time, Joe Trejo had no way of knowing that he was jumping out of the frying pan into the fire. “People in my neighborhood wouldn’t let their kids play with me because I was so mean,” he recalled. “They said I’d end up in prison. I did, but not the kind of prison they were thinking of.”


On the evening of December 7, 1941, PFC Cletis Overton and four buddies took the cheap taxi ride from Fort William McKinley into Manila to see one of the year’s most popular movies. Sergeant York, starring Gary Cooper as the peace-loving conscientious objector from Tennessee who became a major hero of World War I, was playing at one of the big downtown theaters, and Overton had been eager to see it for weeks.


After the film was over and all the Germans had been subdued, the group persuaded Overton, who had already earned a reputation as a clean-living, early-to-bed kind of guy, into hanging around until an unusually late hour while they made the rounds of several nightclubs. In fact, they stayed until closing time at the last club they visited, and it was approaching 2:30 AM by the time they got back to their bivouac area at McKinley.


“Man, it’s dang near breakfast time already,” one of Overton’s buddies muttered as they made their way past a busy mess tent, where the cooks were wrestling pots and pans and listening to dance music on a small radio. “But I don’t think I’m gonna be very hungry this morning.”


The others had just grunted in agreement when an urgent, tinny voice cut through the radio’s big-band sounds, and they paused to listen.


“We interrupt this program to bring you a special news bulletin,” the voice said. “Aircraft identified as Japanese have attacked the U.S. naval base at Pearl Harbor in Hawaii. Repeat, aircraft identified as Japanese—”


“Oh crap!” one of the guys blurted. “How stupid can the Japs get? If they want a war, they’ll get one, all right—and it won’t last six weeks!”


“Come on, let’s hit the sack,” another guy said. “It’s probably just a false alarm anyway.”


“Yeah, but they’ll roust us out for another drill in the morning just the same. You wait and see.”


Groggily, the young night owls stumbled back to their barracks. Within minutes, the radio report was forgotten, and all five of them were fast asleep.


That same evening of December 7, a few miles from Fort McKinley, an exuberant party dominated the scene at the Fiesta Pavillion of the Manila Hotel. The party was being thrown by the same 27th Bomb Group to which Cletis Overton and his comrades were assigned. Its purpose was to celebrate the unit’s recent arrival from the States and the expected delivery of its fifty-two single-engine Douglas A-24 dive-bombers within the next few days. Junior officers from many of the U.S. Army and Army Air Corps units stationed in the Manila area were among the invited guests, and Major General Lewis Brereton, commander of the U.S. Far East Air Force (FEAF), was the special guest of honor.


The party had been billed in advance as the “hottest show west of Minsky’s,” the famed New York strip club. In his Internet history of the 31st Infantry Regiment, Colonel Karl H. Lowe described the evening’s activity as “marked by raucous laughter, off-key singing, tinkling glasses, and squealing girls.” It would continue unabated into the wee hours of the next morning.


Enjoying the festivities from beneath the scarlet cascades of bougainvillea that framed the pavilion’s Bamboo Bar were Lieutenant Ralph Hibbs and four other young officers representing a cross section of U.S. military personnel now massing in the Philippines.


“Hey, do you think these guys can fly B-17s any better than they can sing?” gibed First Lieutenant Dwight Hunkins of H Company, 31st Infantry, nodding toward a group of Air Corps crooners from various bomb groups.


“We’d better hope so,” said someone else. “If not, our planes may be in one helluva lot of trouble.”


Other kibitzers at the bar included George Williams, an infantry officer newly assigned to the Philippine Army; George McClellan III, an aviator and descendant of famed Civil War General George B. McClellan; and Bill Tooley, a Signal Corps officer. Along with Hibbs and Hunkins, the five of them had come to refer to themselves as the Whiffenpoof Boys. They all grinned and nodded as a willowy Filipina waitress brought another round of gin-and-tonics.


No one in the group ever actually learned the answer to Hunkins’s question, however, because none of the scores of additional B-17s intended for the Philippines ever reached their destination—and many of those that were already there would never fly a single combat mission.


None of them realized it on that final carefree, boozy evening of peace in the Pacific, but the five Whiffenpoofs would never again be together in the same room, and four of the five would be dead before peace returned.


The first vague report of the Pearl Harbor disaster reached Far East Air Force headquarters in Manila at 2:30 AM on December 8, when Private Norman Tant, a night-duty cryptographer at Nielson Field, ripped an incoming message from Hawaii off the Teletype machine and hurriedly decoded it.


As the gist of the message became clear, Tant’s eyes widened in shock: “Attention all commanders. Japan has begun hostilities. Conduct yourselves accordingly.”


Tant quickly relayed the message to the Fifth Interceptor Command and the FEAF’s G-2 and G-3 sections. But it wasn’t until 4:15 AM—an hour and forty-five minutes later—that Captain Charles “Bud” Sprague of the Fifth Interceptor Command telephoned Colonel Harold H. George, his chief of staff, to repeat the message.


“Jesus Christ!” George exclaimed. He turned to Captain Allison Ind and Captain Harold Eads, the two other officers with whom he shared quarters at Fort McKinley. “The Japs have hit Pearl Harbor,” he said.


Shortly after four that morning, Lieutenant Ralph Hibbs was awakened in his Manila quarters by a ringing telephone and a loud outburst of cursing from a suite across the garden from Hibbs’s apartment. The lieutenant recognized the voice as that of General Brereton, with whom he’d been partying a few hours earlier, and its tone left no doubt that Brereton was mad as hell.


“What? You’ve got to be kidding!” yelled the FEAF commander. “Well, I’ll be damned! Those dirty sons of bitches!”


Hibbs heard Brereton bang the phone down, followed by a cacophony of strident sounds—racing footsteps, slamming doors, scattered shouts, car engines starting suddenly, tires squealing, and gears clashing. But having been asleep only a couple of hours and feeling more than a little hungover from the previous evening’s festivities, the young medical officer scarcely gave the noises a second thought.


He groaned softly and pulled a pillow over his aching head. In less than a minute, he’d slipped back into a deep slumber, blissfully unaware that his country was at war or that this would be the last time he’d sleep in a bed for nearly four years.
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Paradise Lost


The sky was still pitch-black shortly after 5 AM on December 8, when General Brereton’s staff car pulled up to One Calle Victoria in Manila’s old Walled City. No more than twenty minutes had passed since Brereton’s angry outburst had awakened Lieutenant Hibbs, and the FEAF commander’s nerves were still as taut as a steel spring. He slammed the car door behind him and hurried up a set of stone steps to the rambling wooden building housing USAFFE headquarters, where General MacArthur’s chief of staff, General Richard K. Sutherland, was waiting.


“So the bastards have hit us,” Brereton said, breathing heavily. “I need to see MacArthur right away. I want to mount all available B-17s at Clark Field for missions already assigned against Jap bases on Formosa.”


“I agree that we need to act quickly,” Sutherland replied, “so go ahead with your preparations, but you’ll have to get MacArthur’s approval before mounting any attacks. He’s in conference now, but as soon as he’s out, I’ll ask him to authorize daylight missions.”


Brereton felt his agitation growing. “Okay,” he said, “but tell him we’ve got to get these planes on their way as soon as possible after sunup if we’re going to have any hope of hitting the Japs before they hit our bases here.”


He told Sutherland that he’d check back shortly for MacArthur’s decision. Meanwhile, Brereton’s first priority was to get the B-17s at Clark Field fueled and airborne by first light—not to prepare for the offensive action he was urging but for their own protection.


At about 6:30 AM, still having no idea what the earlier commotion outside his quarters had been about, Lieutenant Hibbs stepped out hesitantly into the morning, shielding his eyes against the light. He was freshly shaved and showered and had managed to eat a light breakfast of coffee and sliced mango, but he was still feeling the after-effects of the night before.


He suppressed a yawn as he slipped behind the steering wheel of his old Chevrolet sedan. Then he pulled out of the parking area beside his apartment building and navigated his way through the quiet streets of Manila toward his Second Battalion’s bivouac site fifteen minutes away on the southern outskirts of the city and a few stone’s throws from the runways of Nichols Field.


Nichols was the largest pursuit plane base in the Philippines and one of five major military airfields in various stages of development across southern Luzon. The others included Nielson, a pursuit base adjacent to Nichols that also served as home for FEAF headquarters; Clark, where most of the vaunted B-17 bombers were concentrated; Iba, another pursuit base west of Clark; and Del Carmen, a primitive new facility still under construction south of Clark.


The Third, 17th, and 21st Pursuit Squadrons with a combined total of about fifty new P-40Es, the Army Air Corps’s most modern fighter aircraft, were based at Nichols. But some of the planes had arrived in crates only three or four days earlier, and none was yet considered fully operational. In some cases, their .50-caliber wing guns had been installed and bore-sighted but not yet test-fired, partly because of a critical shortage of ammunition. In others, the P-40s’ hydraulic charging systems had been deactivated in the process of armoring the planes, rendering their guns inoperable. Complicating matters further was the fact that few of the pilots assigned to the new planes had had more than a couple of hours’ training in formation flying or interception techniques.


Being a surgeon in an infantry battalion, Hibbs had little intimate knowledge of these problems, of course, nor of the numerous other shortages and mechanical flaws faced by American pursuit squadrons in the Philippines. To Hibbs’s casual eye, the U.S. planes looked sleek, well armed, and powerful. He would never have guessed, for instance, that the neat rows of P-35A Buffalos lined up at Nichols and other fields—and which the P-40Es were eventually intended to replace—were already classified as obsolete and “unsuitable for combat” or that some of their pilots caustically referred to them as “flying cordwood.”


Many unpalatable truths about the U.S. military presence in the Pacific would manifest themselves before this day was over, not only to Hibbs but to every other American serviceman stationed there. The most stunning of these truths leaped out at the young medical officer as he paused at a downtown street corner and glanced out the car window at a news vendor waving a morning paper. When Hibbs saw the blaring black headline that filled the front page, his breath caught in his throat like a stone:


HAWAII BOMBED—WAR!


He blinked for an instant in disbelief, then pressed down hard on the accelerator, sending the old Chevy streaking away on squalling tires. A wave of nausea convulsed his midsection, and it had nothing to do with the gin-and-tonics he’d consumed the night before.


My God, he thought. What a sneaky way to start a war! Can this really be happening?


When Hibbs reached 31st Regiment headquarters, he encountered conflicting reports on the seriousness of the situation, but he went directly to the weapons racks that were open to all troops, including medics, and armed himself with a .38 Smith & Wesson revolver.


Later, at the bivouac area, he saw men frantically digging foxholes, and Major Lloyd Moffit, the stocky, balding commander of the Second Battalion, came running toward him with a grim look on his face.


“You’re now a captain, Hibbs,” Moffit said. “As of this morning, there’s a war on, and all company grade officers are promoted one grade.”


Nearby, First Sergeant Joe Wilson, who was handing out collapsible shovels, shook his head and shrugged. “Better start diggin’ a hole for yourself, Captain,” he said. “Promotion or not, the Nips are likely to be here any time now!”


Sixty miles north of Manila at Clark Field, Lieutenant Edgar Whitcomb, assigned as navigator of B-17 No. 87, was having breakfast and listening to his fellow officers in the 19th Bomb Group joking about a “silly rumor” that the Japanese had bombed Pearl Harbor. To a man, they refused to believe it.


“It didn’t make sense to us that the Japs should attack Pearl Harbor and leave Clark Field unharmed,” Whitcomb would later recall. “Also, if it was true, why hadn’t we received official word of it? Why weren’t we on our way to bomb Formosa? No, we decided, it couldn’t be true.”


Yet a short time later, an urgent phone call from FEAF headquarters at Nielson Field transformed the silly rumor into cold, hard fact. When it did, the Flying Fortresses parked in neat rows at Clark, the largest, best-equipped U.S. bomber base in the Far East, took off in a maelstrom of confusion and chaos. In the crews’ haste to keep their planes from becoming sitting ducks, Lieutenant Whitcomb, who’d been delayed while running an errand for Lieutenant Ed Green, his pilot, was left on the ground.


“Hey!” he yelled at a ground crewman when he realized that his B-17 was gone. “What the hell happened to my plane?”


“It took off with only three engines turning,” the enlisted man said, shaking his head. “Damndest thing I ever saw—P-35s, P-40s, and B-17s all taking off at once. Don’t see how they kept from crashing into each other.”


Whitcomb piled back into his jeep and drove to 19th Bomb Group headquarters. As he ran through the door, he almost collided with his friend, Lieutenant Croxton.


“What the hell’s happening?” Whitcomb demanded.


“We got word that a Jap raid was coming, and everything was ordered off the field,” Croxton said.


“Where’s Ed Green?”


Croxton pointed skyward. “He took off like a bat out of hell. Guess he’s flying around up there somewhere. You know, the crazy thing is, we can’t seem to get orders to bomb Formosa.”


“Why?” Whitcomb asked with a frown.


“Nobody seems to know,” Croxton said.


Ranking high among those who didn’t know was General Lewis Brereton. At 7:15 AM, when he returned anxiously to MacArthur’s headquarters, General Sutherland’s entire demeanor seemed to have undergone a drastic change.


“The General hasn’t responded to your request,” Sutherland said, his tone cool and aloof. “Until he does, you’re not to take any offensive action.”


By now, Brereton was unable to conceal his irritation. “Look, I want to see the General myself,” he said, his voice rising a couple of octaves. “I want to talk to him directly about this situation. Is there someone with him now?”


“No, he’s alone in his office, but he’s not seeing anyone at the moment. I’ll go ask him about it.”


Sutherland disappeared through the door to MacArthur’s inner office, but he returned in less than a minute. “The General says no,” he said. “Don’t make the first overt act.”


Brereton stared at Sutherland for a moment in disbelief. Then he exploded. “Damn it, wasn’t the bombing of Pearl Harbor an overt act? Can’t the General acknowledge that we’re at war?”


“You’re to maintain a defensive stance until further notice,” Sutherland told him icily. “I doubt that you have sufficient information on targets on Formosa to justify offensive operations at this time, anyway. Your instructions are to have your people remain on alert and await further orders.”


Cursing under his breath, Brereton stormed out. By 8 AM, he was at his Nielson Field headquarters, where, according to observers, “his face was pale and his jaw hard” as he broke the bad news to his staff.


Less than half an hour later, a formation of seventeen Japanese Type 97 heavy bombers, led by Captain Ryosuke Motomura and flying at 13,000 feet, arrived over Camp John Hay, a U.S. Army outpost near the resort town of Baguio on Lingayen Gulf in the center of Luzon’s west coast. During the 145-mile flight southward along the coastline, Motomura had been holding his breath, expecting to be challenged at any moment by American fighters. Now he felt a surge of relief because none had appeared.


At approximately 8:25 AM, on Motomura’s signal, the planes unleashed scores of 220-pound bombs—the first of thousands of tons of Japanese high explosives that would fall on Luzon in weeks to come—on Camp Hay’s barracks and other installations.


Almost simultaneously, twenty-five other Japanese twin-engine bombers struck the small U.S. airfield at Tuguegarao some sixty miles inland from Luzon’s north coast. Like Motomura’s group, these pilots had maintained a constant lookout for American pursuit planes, fully expecting to be intercepted but encountering no opposition whatsoever. As they looked down, they were chagrined, however, to discover that their target consisted of little more than two intersecting—and vacant—runways. Not a single U.S. plane could be seen, and there was no evidence of other military installations or activity.


Following orders from their leader, Captain Kiyosato Goto, the pilots dumped their bombs anyway, blowing numerous holes in both unoccupied runways, then veering north toward their base at Kato on Formosa.


At least two key factors may explain why the initial enemy air strikes on Luzon happened to occur against such obscure, low-value targets. The first was a Japanese intelligence report that General MacArthur was attending a USAFFE retreat at Camp Hay. If the report had been accurate, Motomura’s raiders might have been able to kill America’s top commander in the Far East while he was there, but MacArthur was many miles away at his Manila headquarters at the time.


The second factor—one beyond the control of the Japanese—was a heavy fog that blanketed many of their major airfields on Formosa, forcing indefinite postponement of missions originally scheduled to begin at daylight that morning.


(A third Japanese air attack on Philippine targets—and the earliest of the three—had been carried out at 6 AM on December 8 by thirteen bombers and six fighters, all from the aircraft carrier Ryujo, against an airstrip at Davao on Mindanao. A hangar, some gasoline storage tanks, and the field’s radio station were damaged. But, again, the results were disappointing because no American planes were at the field.)


With their bomb bays empty, the Baguio raiders executed a wide right turn and streaked west over Lingayen Gulf, then north again along the Luzon coastline, retracing the route they had taken to their target. They spotted no U.S. planes, and all seventeen raiders returned unblemished from the attack.


As they exited Philippine airspace, approximately six hours had passed since the first Pearl Harbor report had been received at U.S. headquarters in Manila. The airwaves were filled with radio reports of mysterious aircraft allegedly approaching various points on Luzon—including Clark Field, where ground troops were rousted out to contest a feared attack by Japanese paratroopers. Aloft, cruising P-40s searched fruitlessly for the reported enemy planes but found only circling B-17s instead.


Meanwhile, at Nielson Field, General Brereton continued to wait for MacArthur’s approval to take offensive action against Japan.


It was 9:45 AM before the heavy fog over Formosa lifted sufficiently for the scores of Japanese attack aircraft earmarked for raids on the Philippines to be cleared for takeoff. As he awaited his turn on the flight line at the controls of Zero fighter V-135, Flight Seaman First Class Masa-aki Shimakawa was relieved that the long wait to get airborne was almost over. Yet he was also apprehensive, even pessimistic, about what lay ahead.


Like the other pilots in his eight-plane squadron, Shimakawa had purposely left his parachute harness behind on the ground. None of them wanted to risk being captured if they had to bail out over enemy territory. If the worst happened, they much preferred to die with their planes, and they’d been warned that up to 90 percent of them weren’t expected to return alive from their mission against Clark Field.


I’m in the hands of fate now, Shimakawa told himself.


At almost precisely the same time that Shimakawa and his comrades were taking off from Tainan Naval Air Base on Formosa, the all clear sirens were sounding at Clark and other principal U.S. bases, and the extreme tension that had characterized the morning thus far was easing a little.


At 10 AM, from his office at Nielson Field, a still fuming General Brereton had put in another call to General Sutherland, once more urging immediate offensive action by the 19th Bomb Group’s B-17s.


“If Clark Field gets taken out by a Japanese attack,” he warned, “the FEAF will be out of business offensively.”


Sutherland’s response, however, remained the same as before, and it left Brereton more incensed than ever.


“In case we ever get permission to strike back at the Japs,” he told Colonel Eugene Eubank, commander of the 19th Bomb Group, by phone, “I want you to get your group bombed-up and ready for a mission to Formosa at the earliest possible moment.”


“I know how you feel, sir, and I feel the same way,” said Eubank, “but I don’t think it’s wise to load the bombs just yet. It could be dangerous to have fully loaded B-17s on the ground if the Japs should attack before we can leave.”


Brereton sighed. “I guess you’re right,” he said. “Okay then, focus on preparations for that three-plane photo reconnaissance mission over southern Formosa that Sutherland’s finally approved.”


Surprisingly, however, at 10:14 AM—exactly fourteen minutes after Brereton had hung up from calling Sutherland—the phone on the FEAF commander’s desk rang, and he found himself talking to General MacArthur in person for the first time that day.


“If you feel offensive action is in order, Lewis, the decision is yours to make,” MacArthur said, countermanding Sutherland’s recent order in a single sentence.


Brereton called his staff together immediately, and by 10:45 AM, a plan of attack had been developed and approved by Brereton, who insisted that the first mission against Formosa be carried out before the end of the day. Two squadrons of B-17s loaded with 100- and 300-pound bombs would attack airfields on southern Formosa “before darkness today,” according to Brereton’s order. Meanwhile, the two B-17 squadrons at Del Monte Field on Mindanao would be moved to Clark under cover of darkness “at the earliest practicable moment” to prepare for a follow-up raid the next morning.


“Let’s go after the bastards and give ’em hell,” Brereton told his staff as the meeting broke up.


Around 11:30 AM, after flying in circles for several hours, the 19th Bomb Group’s B-17s returned to Clark to refuel and—their crews hoped—to take on loads of bombs for the anticipated strikes against Formosa. While these operations were under way, the fliers parked their planes in orderly rows and took a break for lunch.


Some fifteen minutes later, personnel in the Air Warning Center at Nielson Field in the suburbs of Manila found themselves deluged with incoming reports of unidentified planes crossing the northwest Luzon coast. Coming as thick and fast as they did, the rash of reports alarmed Colonel Alexander Campbell, the officer in charge. The planes seemed to be heading directly for Clark Field.


Campbell tried sending a Teletype warning to Clark but was unable to get through. He next tried a radio message, but the Clark radio operator was apparently out to lunch. In desperation, he grabbed the phone on his desk and managed to reach a junior officer at the airfield, who agreed to relay the message to the base commander’s office as soon as possible.


At 11:56 AM, air raid sirens sounded at every military airfield on Luzon—except Clark. By 12:10 PM, all fighter aircraft at all other bases were either airborne or on full alert with engines idling and pilots in their cockpits. At Clark, by contrast, eighteen freshly refueled P-40s of the 20th Pursuit Squadron stood in silent formation at the edge of the field while their pilots milled about nearby awaiting orders to take off. Of these, only three would manage to get airborne. The rest would be engulfed by bombs and machine gun bullets before they could leave the ground.


“We were so naive, and we felt so safe,” recalled PFC Henry H. King of the Seventh Materiel Squadron, who’d been stationed at Clark Field since arriving in the Philippines in October 1941. “The atmosphere at Clark was so relaxed that when I heard about the attack on Pearl Harbor, my first thought was, Thank God I’m not there.”


King, a native of Graham, Texas, was finishing his lunch in one of the Clark mess halls, along with some mechanics and B-17 crewmembers, when they heard the voice of Don Bell, a popular announcer on a Manila radio station, as he began his regular 12:30 newscast.


“We have no official confirmation at this time,” Bell was saying, “but we’ve received reports that Japanese planes are bombing Clark Field at this very moment and inflicting heavy damage. Please stand by for further details.”


The men in the mess hall looked at each other. Some frowned, then grinned and rolled their eyes. “We just laughed,” said King, “and went on eating.”


At about this same juncture, Lieutenant Ed Whitcomb, the navigator left behind when his plane took off without him early that morning, finished his own lunch and headed back toward 19th Group headquarters, where he’d been preparing map reproductions for the pending photorecon mission to Formosa.


“The sun was high in the heavens,” he recalled. “The day was bright and clear, and everything at Clark Field appeared perfectly normal. It was as if the Japs didn’t even know Clark existed, but that was impossible to believe.”


Formosa’s only three hours away, he thought. Why do we have to waste time taking pictures on a reconnaissance mission? We know where their damn bases are. Why aren’t we bombing them right now? Are we just waiting around for them to bomb us first?


Gripped by growing uneasiness, Whitcomb reached the two-story wooden building that housed his headquarters shortly after 12:30 PM and found Colonel Eubank, the 19th Group commander, closeted in his office with several squadron leaders and operations officers. Noticing that his own pilot, Lieutenant Green, was among them, Whitcomb edged closer to the door, hoping to learn what was going on.


At that instant, he heard a shrill warning shout from another officer at the rear of the building:


“Here they come! Here they come!”


Realizing instantly who “they” were, Whitcomb whirled toward the back door of the building, rushed outside and down the steps, and made a wild dive into the nearest slit trench twenty feet away. Everyone else from the headquarters building was running, too—far more shelter seekers than the recently dug trenches could accommodate. Whitcomb felt bodies piling on top of him, jamming his face into the sand in the bottom of the trench and crushing the wind out of him.


As he struggled to free himself, he heard strange, crackling noises filling the air above him, sounding “like dry boards being broken.” An ear-splitting explosion rocked the ground beneath him, followed by another. And another. And another…


Then everything went black.


PFC Victor Mapes, one of a group of 14th Bomber Squadron ground crewmen staring at the skies above Clark at that moment, saw considerably more than Lieutenant Whitcomb.


“Coming in over the mountains from the China Sea,” he recalled “were these two beautiful ‘V’ formations of twenty-seven planes each.”


Someone in Mapes’s group speculated that the fifty-four approaching aircraft belonged to the U.S. Navy. Then Mapes spotted the flaming red “meatball” insignia on the undersides of their wings.


“It’s an attack!” he yelled. “They’re Japanese!’”


Seconds later, Mapes saw enemy bombs “walking up the runway” toward him—one of them hitting perilously close—as he and the others made a mad scramble for cover in a cement latrine. They cowered there while the raiders’ direct hits gouged huge holes in the field and coughed up clouds of smoke, dirt, and debris.


The bombers had scarcely departed when thirty-seven Mitsubishi Type O fighters—soon to be universally known as Zeros—streaked in at treetop level. Their stuttering machine guns caused even greater damage than the bombs to the parked B-17s as their tracer rounds chewed into the big bombers’ gas tanks, and they burst into flames.


“I saw a guy throw his shoe at a Jap plane,” Mapes said. “Another was firing his .45. Everything was a holocaust. It seemed like it went on forever.”


In the eerie silence following the explosions, Mapes and the others could hear a Manila radio station playing soft music as if nothing had happened. “Then the wounded started coming in,” he said. “Most were cut up and bloody. All of them should’ve been in the hospital, but some stayed to fight the fires and carry the dead.


“When we limped back to our barracks, our clothes were hanging from the rafters. There was a big hole where the Japs had dropped one right through the roof. We saw a man in his ’38 Ford lying there, shot. I guess he’d been trying to get off the base. Then there was a dead pilot in the cockpit of a burning B-17. You could hardly see him for the flames.”


PFC Edward Jackfert, a mechanic in the 19th Bomb Group’s 28th Bomb Squadron, had been working inside a hangar all morning on one of the obsolete B-18 bombers being refitted as cargo planes. At about 12:30 PM, he and several others decided to stop for lunch. They’d just walked outside when they heard the low roar of many approaching aircraft engines.


“None of us had made any plans about what to do in case of an attack,” Jackfert recalled, “and the only air raid siren we had had to be cranked by hand, so we had no advance warning at all. At first, in my confusion, I started back toward the hangar where my airplane was—which was about the most foolish thing I ever did in my life. Then the first bomb hit about 300 yards away, and I ran back the other way, looking for some kind of shelter.”


None of the recently dug slit trenches around Clark’s perimeters were close enough to reach, but Jackfert spotted a concrete culvert in a nearby ditch and crawled inside as bomb blasts jarred the ground.


“One bomb hit our barracks and killed our adjutant,” he recalled, “and our officers quarters were heavily damaged, too. But the worst thing was our planes. We lost a total of thirty-eight aircraft in a matter of minutes.”


No man at Clark found himself in a more potentially deadly spot than Staff Sergeant J. S. Gray of the 27th Bomb Group’s 454th Ordnance Squadron as the Japanese bombers began their attack.


“I was sitting right out in the middle of the field with five truckloads of bombs,” Gray recalled a half-century later. “I was in charge of all that ammunition, and we were getting ready to put the bombs on our planes and send them back up, but the Japanese caught us on the ground.”


After Gray and others in his unit had put considerable distance between themselves and the bomb-laden trucks, he watched in fear and fascination as the raiders methodically destroyed the neat rows of American planes but totally ignored a dummy B-17 constructed mostly of bamboo.


“The Japs got every one of our real planes,” he said, “and left that dummy—which looked exactly like the real B-17s—untouched.”


Fifteen-year-old Private Joe Alexander was standing outdoors with other members of the 440 Aviation Ordnance Squadron when the first explosions rocked the field. Like Sergeant Gray, Alexander had also been waiting to start loading 300-pound bombs into the bellies of the B-17s. But fortunately he and his comrades were still a considerable distance from the planes—and the bombs to be loaded—when the raid started.


“Guys were running off in all directions, and I was out in the open with almost no cover at all and not knowing which way to go,” Alexander remembered many years later. “The only protection I could see anywhere near was a very small tree, and I ran as hard as I could and jumped behind it. I lay there hugging the trunk of that little tree like it was my best friend in the whole world. At the time, I guess it was. There were pieces of planes and buildings flying all around me, and then the Zeros came in low, strafing everything in sight. I tried to lie totally still so maybe they’d think I was dead, but it was still a miracle I didn’t get hit.”


The carnage went on for more than an hour with the Zeros making pass after pass in an almost leisurely fashion. When it was over, the toll at Clark stood at fifty-five dead and more than 100 wounded. Of the seventeen B-17s based at Clark, only three survived. Fifty-three P-40s at Clark and other fields were destroyed that day, along with thirty other U.S. aircraft. The Japanese raiders lost seven fighter planes.


Even before the raid ended, a stream of wounded from Clark began showing up at the hospital at Fort Stotsenburg, adjoining the airfield. But the smallish facility was totally inadequate to handle the bloodbath, and by afternoon many of the wounded had been transferred to Sternberg Hospital in Manila.


General Jonathan M. Wainwright, commander of the Army’s North Luzon Force, who maintained his headquarters at Stotsenburg, dodged stray pieces of shrapnel as he watched the destruction at Clark from the Stotsenburg parade ground with a feeling of sheer helplessness.


As soon as the all clear sounded, Wainwright ordered every available truck in the fort’s fleet to get to Clark in a hurry to pick up and transport the wounded. It was obvious that there weren’t enough ambulances to handle the job. Then Wainwright called for his horse, and accompanied by his aide, Lieutenant Thomas Dooley, the longtime cavalry officer rode over to Clark to see if there was anything he could do to help.


There wasn’t much, and what he saw at the airfield merely added to the sick and sinking feeling in his gut.


When the bombing and strafing finally ended, Ed Whitcomb extricated himself from the overcrowded trench, cleared the sand from his eyes, nose, mouth, and ears, and stared across Clark Field at scenes of abject horror.


The bombing pattern laid down by the Japanese had started with the mess hall where Whitcomb had eaten lunch, then spread diagonally across the field to the southeast. An undetermined number of officers had been killed by the direct hit on the mess hall, and the bodies of others were strewn over the field and along the flight line.


“I couldn’t see even one plane that hadn’t been hit,” he said, “and many were still blazing furiously. Our fighters had been knocked down as they tried to take off. Crews standing by their planes were destroyed along with the ships.”
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